



**University of
Zurich**^{UZH}

**Zurich Open Repository and
Archive**

University of Zurich
Main Library
Strickhofstrasse 39
CH-8057 Zurich
www.zora.uzh.ch

Year: 2013

The International Classification of Headache Disorders, 3rd edition (beta version)

Ettlin, Dominik A <javascript:contributorCitation('Ettlin, Dominik A');>

DOI: <https://doi.org/10.1177/0333102413485658>

Posted at the Zurich Open Repository and Archive, University of Zurich

ZORA URL: <https://doi.org/10.5167/uzh-89115>

Journal Article

Accepted Version

Originally published at:

Ettlin, Dominik A (2013). The International Classification of Headache Disorders, 3rd edition (beta version). *Cephalalgia*, 33(9):629-808.

DOI: <https://doi.org/10.1177/0333102413485658>

Diagnostic Criteria for Temporomandibular Disorders (DC/TMD) for Clinical and Research Applications: Recommendations of the International RDC/TMD Consortium Network* and Orofacial Pain Special Interest Group**

* International Association for Dental Research

** International Association for the Study of Pain

Authors

Eric Schiffman, DDS, MS; Richard Ohrbach, DDS, PhD; Edmond Truelove, DDS, MSD; John Look, DDS, PhD; Gary Anderson, DDS, MS; Jean-Paul Goulet, DDS, MSD; Thomas List, DDS, Odont Dr; Peter Svensson, DDS, PhD, Dr Odont; Yoly Gonzalez, DDS, MS, MPH; Frank Lobbezoo, DDS, PhD; Ambra Michelotti, DDS; Sharon L Brooks, DDS, MS; Werner Ceusters, MD; Mark Drangsholt, DDS, PhD; Dominik Ettlin, MD, DDS; Charly Gaul, MD; Louis Goldberg, DDS, PhD; Jennifer A Haythornthwaite, PhD; Lars Hollender, DDS, Odont Dr; Rigmor Jensen, MD, PhD; Mike T John, DDS, PhD; Antoon deLaat, DDS, PhD; Reny deLeeuw, DDS, PhD; William Maixner, DDS, PhD; Marylee van der Meulen, PhD; Greg M Murray, MDS, PhD; ~~Donald R~~ Nixdorf, DDS, MS; Sandro Palla, DDS; Arne Petersson, DDS, Odont Dr; Paul Pionchon, DDS, PhD; Barry Smith, PhD; Corine M Visscher PT, PhD; Joanna Zakrzewska, MD, FDSRCSI; and Samuel F Dworkin, DDS PhD.

Deleted: Don

Author Affiliations

Dr Schiffman is an associate professor, Department of Diagnostic and Biological Sciences, 6-320 Moos Tower, University of Minnesota, Minneapolis, 55455, e-mail "schif001@umn.edu". Phone: (612) 624 3130. Fax: (612) 626-0138. Address reprint requests to Dr Schiffman.

Dr Ohrbach is an associate professor, Department of Oral Diagnostic Sciences, School of Dental Medicine, University at Buffalo, New York.

Dr Truelove is a professor, Department of Oral Medicine, School of Dentistry, University of Washington, Seattle, Washington.

Dr Look is a Senior Research Associate, Department of Diagnostic and Biological Sciences, 6-320 Moos Tower, University of Minnesota, Minneapolis.

Dr Anderson is an associate professor, Department of Developmental and Surgical Sciences, University of Minnesota, Minneapolis.

Dr Goulet is a professor, Section of Stomatology, Faculty of Dentistry, Laval University, Quebec, Canada.

Dr List is professor and chair, Department of Stomatognathic Physiology, Faculty of Odontology, Malmö University, Sweden.

Dr Svensson is a professor, Department of Clinical Oral Physiology, School of Dentistry, Aarhus University, Denmark and professor, Center for Functionally Integrative Neuroscience (CFIN), MindLab, Aarhus University Hospital, Aarhus, Denmark.

Dr Gonzalez is an assistant professor, Department of Oral Diagnostic Sciences, School of Dental Medicine, University at Buffalo, New York.

Deleted: a

Dr Lobbezoo is a professor, Department of Oral Kinesiology, Academic Centre for Dentistry Amsterdam (ACTA), University of Amsterdam and VU University Amsterdam, MOVE Research Institute Amsterdam, Amsterdam, The Netherlands.

Dr Michelotti is an associate professor, Department of Orthodontics and Gnathology, School of Dentistry, University of Naples Federico II, Naples, Italy.

Dr Brooks is a professor emerita, Department of Periodontics and Oral Medicine, School of Dentistry, University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, Michigan.

Dr Ceusters is a professor, Department of Psychiatry, School of Medicine and Biomedical Sciences, University at Buffalo, New York; **Director of Research of the Institute for Healthcare Informatics, Buffalo, New York;** and Director of the Ontology Research Group, New York State Center of Excellence in Bioinformatics and Life Sciences, Buffalo, New York.

Deleted: ,

Dr Drangsholt is **professor and chair,** Department of Oral Medicine, School of Dentistry, University of Washington, Seattle.

Deleted: an associate

Dr Ettlin is **a Privatdozent at** the University of Zurich, Switzerland.

Deleted: the head of the Interdisciplinary Orofacial Pain Unit at the Center of Dental Medicine of

Dr Gaul is a neurologist and head of department, Migraine and Headache Clinic, Königstein, Germany.

Dr Goldberg is a professor, Department of Oral Diagnostic Sciences, School of Dental Medicine, University at Buffalo, New York.

Dr Haythornthwaite is a professor, Department of Psychiatry & Behavioral Sciences, School of Medicine, Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore.

Dr Hollender is professor (emeritus), Division of Oral Radiology, Department of Oral Medicine, School of Dentistry, University of Washington..

Dr Jensen is a professor, Danish Headache Center, Department of Neurology, Glostrup Hospital, University of Copenhagen, Denmark.

Dr John is an associate professor, Department of Diagnostic and Biological Sciences, 6-320 Moos Tower, University of Minnesota, Minneapolis.

Dr De Laat is a professor, Department of Oral Health Sciences, KU Leuven, Belgium

Dr deLeeuw is an associate professor, Department of oral Health Science, College of Dentistry, University of Kentucky, Lexington, Kentucky.

Dr Maixner is Mary Lily Kenan Flagler Bingham Distinguished Professor and Director, Center for Neurosensory Disorders, 5417L Koury Oral Health Sciences Building, University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, Chapel Hill, North Carolina.

Dr van der Meulen is an assistant professor, Department of Oral Kinesiology, Academic Centre for Dentistry Amsterdam (ACTA), University of Amsterdam and VU University Amsterdam, MOVE Research Institute Amsterdam, Amsterdam, The Netherlands.

Dr Murray is a professor, Faculty of Dentistry, University of Sydney, Sydney, Australia.

Dr Nixdorf is an associate professor, Department of Diagnostic and Biological Sciences, and adjunct assistant professor, Department of Neurology, 6-320 Moos Tower, University of Minnesota, Minneapolis and research investigator, HealthPartners Institute for Education and Research, Bloomington.

Dr Palla is professor emeritus, University of Zurich, Zurich, Switzerland.

Dr Petersson is a professor, Department of Radiology, Faculty of Odontology, Malmö University, Sweden.

Dr Pionchon is an associate professor, Department of Orofacial Pain and Department of Psychology, Faculty of Odontology, Université d'Auvergne, Clermont Ferrand, France.

Dr Smith is professor, Departments of Philosophy, Neurology, and Computer Science, University at Buffalo, New York

Dr Visscher is an associate professor, Department of Oral Kinesiology, Academic Centre for Dentistry Amsterdam (ACTA), University of Amsterdam and VU University Amsterdam, MOVE Research Institute Amsterdam, Amsterdam, The Netherlands.

Dr Zakrzewska is professor, Division of Diagnostic, Surgical and Medical Sciences Eastman Dental Hospital, UCLH NHS Foundation Trust, UK.

Dr Dworkin is professor emeritus, Department of Oral Medicine, School of Dentistry and Department of Psychiatry and Behavioral Sciences, School of Medicine, University of Washington, Seattle.

Abstract

Aims: The Research Diagnostic Criteria for Temporomandibular Disorders (RDC/TMD) Axis I diagnostic algorithms were demonstrated to be reliable but below target sensitivity of ≥ 0.70 and specificity of ≥ 0.95 . Empirical data supported Axis I algorithm revisions that were valid. Axis II instruments were shown to be both reliable and valid. An international consensus workshop was convened to obtain recommendations and finalization of new Axis I diagnostic algorithms and new Axis II instruments.

Methods: A comprehensive search of published TMD diagnostic literature was followed by review and consensus via a formal structured process by a panel of experts for revision of the RDC/TMD. The panel's recommendations for revision of the diagnostic algorithms were assessed for validity using available data.

Results: The recommended Diagnostic Criteria for TMD (DC/TMD) Axis I protocol includes both a valid screener for pain diagnoses and valid criteria (sensitivity ≥ 0.80 , specificity ≥ 0.95) for the most common pain-related TMDs and for one intra-articular disorder. Diagnostic criteria for other common intra-articular disorders lacked adequate validity for clinical diagnoses but can be used for screening purposes. The Axis II protocol retains selected RDC/TMD screening instruments augmented with new instruments to better assess the interactions between pain and psychosocial functioning. A comprehensive classification system is also presented.

Conclusion: The recommended evidence-based DC/TMD protocol is appropriate for use in both the clinical and research settings. Simple Axis I and II screening tests augmented by validated Axis I and Axis II instruments allow for identification of simple to complex TMD patients.

Keywords

Diagnostic validity, diagnostic criteria, temporomandibular disorders, sensitivity, specificity.

Introduction

Temporomandibular disorders (TMD) are a significant public health problem affecting approximately 5 to 12% of the population.¹ TMD is the second most common musculoskeletal condition (after chronic low back pain) resulting in pain and disability.¹ Pain-related TMD can impact the individual's daily activities, psychosocial functioning, and quality of life. Overall, the annual TMD management cost in the USA, not including imaging, has doubled in the last decade to \$4 billion.¹

Patients often seek consultation with dentists for their TMD, especially pain-related TMD. A dual Axis Diagnostic Criteria for TMD (DC/TMD) with simple, clear operational definitions for the history, examination and imaging procedures are needed to render Axis I physical diagnoses in both clinical and research settings. Axis II biobehavioral assessment of pain-related behavior and psychosocial functioning - an essential part of the diagnostic process - provides the minimal information whereby the patient's pain disorder, especially when chronic, warrants further multidisciplinary assessment. A valid DC/TMD will provide evidence-based criteria for the clinician to use when assessing patients and facilitate communication regarding consultations, referrals, and prognosis.²

The research community benefits from well-defined and clinically relevant characteristics associated with the phenotype. When clinicians and researchers use the same criteria, taxonomy and nomenclature, then clinical questions and experience can be more easily transferred into relevant research questions, and research findings are more accessible to clinicians to better diagnose and manage their patients.

The Research Diagnostic Criteria for Temporomandibular Disorders (RDC/TMD) has been the most widely employed diagnostic protocol for TMD research since its

publication in 1992.³ This classification system was based on the biopsychosocial model of pain,⁴ and this system included an Axis I physical assessment, using reliable and well operationalized diagnostic criteria, and an Axis II assessment of **psychosocial** status and pain-related disability. The intent was to simultaneously provide a physical diagnosis and identify other relevant characteristics of the patient that could influence the expression and thus management of their TMD. Indeed, the longer the pain persists, the greater the potential for patients to develop or amplify pre-existing cognitive, psychosocial, and behavioral risk factors with enhanced pain sensitivity, greater likelihood of pain persistence, and reduced probability of success from standard treatments.

Deleted: psychological

The RDC/TMD was intended to be only a first step toward improved TMD classification, and the authors stated the need for future investigation of the accuracy of the Axis I diagnostic algorithms in terms of reliability and criterion validity – the latter involving use of credible reference standard diagnoses, and to further assess the clinical utility of the Axis II instruments. The RDC/TMD Axis I physical diagnoses have content validity based on the critical review by experts of the published diagnostic approaches in use at that time and were tested using population-based epidemiological data.⁵ Subsequently, a multicenter study showed that, for the most common TMD, RDC/TMD diagnoses exhibited sufficient reliability for clinical use.⁶ While the validity of individual RDC/TMD diagnoses has been extensively investigated, assessment of the criterion validity for the complete spectrum of RDC/TMD diagnoses had been absent until recently.⁷

For the Axis II instruments, good evidence for their reliability and validity for measuring ~~psychosocial~~ status and pain-related disability already existed when the classification system was published.⁸⁻¹² Subsequently, a variety of studies have demonstrated the significance and utility of the RDC/TMD biobehavioral measures in predicting outcomes of clinical trials, escalation from acute to chronic pain, and experimental laboratory measures.¹³⁻¹⁹ Other studies have shown that the RDC/TMD biobehavioral measures are incomplete in terms of better prediction of disease course²⁰⁻²² The overall utility of the biobehavioral measures in routine clinical settings has, however, yet to be demonstrated, in part because most such studies have to date focused on Axis I concerns rather than biobehavioral concerns.²³

Deleted: psychological

The aims of this paper are to present the new evidence-based Axis I and II DC/TMD, to be used in both clinical and research settings, as well as the processes related to their development.

Methods

The National Institute of Dental and Craniofacial Research (NIDCR), recognizing the need to rigorously assess the diagnostic accuracy of the dual axis RDC/TMD, funded the multi-site Validation Project in 2001 that resulted in a dataset of 705 participants who were classified, based on reference standard diagnoses, into 614 TMD cases and 91 controls.²⁴ A description of the demographics, clinical characteristics and methodology is available.²⁴⁻²⁶ Reference standard diagnoses were established by consensus between 2 TMD and orofacial pain experts using a comprehensive history, physical examination, and imaging studies (panoramic radiograph, and bilateral

temporomandibular joint [TMJ] magnetic resonance imaging [MRI] and computed tomography [CT]). Acceptable validity was defined *a priori* as sensitivity ≥ 0.70 and specificity ≥ 0.95 .³ When the RDC/TMD Axis I TMD diagnoses were compared to these reference standard diagnoses, the findings supported the need for revision of these Axis I TMD diagnostic algorithms to improve their diagnostic accuracy.⁷ The Validation Project subsequently developed and validated revised Axis I diagnostic algorithms for myofascial pain and arthralgia that have excellent diagnostic accuracy.²⁶ However, revised diagnostic algorithms alone, without recourse to TMJ imaging, were still inadequate for valid diagnoses of two of the three types of disc displacements (DD) and for degenerative joint disease (DJD). Axis II instruments were shown to be reliable and valid for screening for psychosocial distress and pain-related disability, but revision was warranted for both increased scope and improved clinical efficiency.^{27,28}

Deleted: psychological

In July 2008, a symposium at the International Association for Dental Research (IADR), “*Validation Studies of the RDC/TMD: Progress Towards Version 2*”, was sponsored by the International RDC/TMD Consortium Network in Toronto.²⁹ Presentation of the revised RDC/TMD Axis I diagnostic algorithms and Axis II findings by the Validation Project’s key investigators was followed with critiques from researchers in the areas of radiology, neurology, pain psychology, and TMD and orofacial pain.³⁰⁻³⁵ A mandate emerged from the symposium in support of holding a consensus workshop for the development of a DC/TMD.

In March 2009, the “*International Consensus Workshop: Convergence on an Orofacial Pain Taxonomy*” was organized by the International RDC/TMD Consortium Network (IADR) and the Orofacial Pain Special Interest Group (International Association

for the Study of Pain), in Miami in order to address the recommendations from both the Validation Project investigators²⁸ and from the 2008 Toronto symposium regarding development of the DC/TMD. The Validation Project's findings and recommendations, as well as comprehensive literature searches regarding diagnostic tests, served as the basis for the resulting consensus-based recommendations that are available in the executive summary.^{36,37} The ad-hoc Taxonomy Committee was appointed by the workshop participants and charged with finalizing the workshop recommendations; these recommendations were then reviewed by the workshop participants for feedback and approval. The Validation Project's findings and recommendations were subsequently published.^{7,24-28}

The Validation Project team used the available dataset from that project, as appropriate, to assess validity for the changes to the Axis I diagnostic algorithms as recommended by the 2009 Miami workshop. These analyses were then reviewed, edited, and approved by members of the Taxonomy Committee. For the Axis II portion of the DC/TMD, the implementation of the consensus report from the 2009 Miami workshop was further refined based on recommendations from a subsequent workshop³⁸ and recommendations from more recent publications that built upon Validation Project findings.²⁷

In July 2010, the working draft of the DC/TMD was presented to the international clinical and research community for critique and comments at a symposium in Barcelona, Spain (IADR). Further refinement of select DC/TMD diagnoses occurred in 2011 at the *International RDC/TMD Consensus Workshop* (San Diego) at the IADR. From 2011-2012, the examiner specifications for the Axis I assessment protocol and the

Axis II instruments were field-tested. In 2012, the DC/TMD manuscript was then reviewed and finalized by the Miami 2009 workshop participants for publication. Detailed information regarding the development of the DC/TMD is available on the International RDC/TMD Consortium Network website.³⁹

Deleted: ³⁸

Concurrent with the above activities was the development of a new taxonomic classification structure. The Taxonomy Committee and selected members of the 2009 workshop used the taxonomic structures developed by the American Academy of Orofacial Pain (AAOP)⁴⁰ in order to develop the structure used in this manuscript. The members of the workshops held in 2011 at San Diego and at the *International Consensus Workshop: Expanded TMD Taxonomy for Further Classification Research* in June 2012 at Iguacu Falls, Brazil (IADR) further refined this more comprehensive taxonomic structure and related diagnostic criteria. The AAOP council subsequently endorsed this taxonomic structure in 2012.

Results

Overview. The following recommendations represent an evidence-based DC/TMD intended for immediate implementation in clinical and research settings. The diagnostic algorithms and estimates of sensitivity and specificity for the most common TMDs are presented in Tables 1 and 2. Common TMDs include myalgia, myofascial pain with referral, arthralgia, TMJ disc displacements with and without reduction, TMJ subluxation, and TMJ degenerative joint disease. Decision trees are available which map the history and clinical findings to these specific disorders except for TMJ subluxation.⁴¹ Acceptable sensitivity and specificity for a definitive diagnosis are

Deleted: statistics

considered as sensitivity $\geq 70\%$ and specificity $\geq 95\%$.³ Diagnostic criteria with sensitivity or specificity lower than these target values were used when there was no available alternative. Table 3 provides an inclusive taxonomic classification structure for both common and uncommon TMD. The criteria for the less common **types of TMD** have not been assessed for criterion validity. The revision of the AAOP criteria⁴⁰ presented here has undergone considerable review and has been updated as a result of the joint effort by members of the International RDC/TMD Consortium Network and the Orofacial Pain Special Interest Group of the IASP. These revised criteria for the less common TMD will be available on the Consortium website. As with the original RDC/TMD Axis I criteria, their diagnostic validity must be rigorously assessed. The Axis II protocol has been expanded by adding instruments to evaluate pain behavior, psychological status, and psychosocial **functioning**. The inclusion of the biobehavioral domain has been well-accepted in the pain field overall, and the specific inclusion of Axis II has been recommended as a general model for assessing any pain patient.⁴² Finally, a “stepped” assessment model is embedded in the DC/TMD components, allowing the protocol to support assessment ranging from screening to comprehensive expert evaluation.

Deleted: function

1. Workshop Recommendations for Axis I Pain-related TMD Diagnoses

- A. The Axis I TMD Pain Screener⁴³ is a simple, reliable and valid self-report instrument used to assess for the presence of any pain-related TMD with sensitivity and specificity > 0.95 .⁴⁴ A 3-item version is suitable for epidemiological studies, while the full 6-item version has reliability sufficient for screening individuals for pain-related TMD. The full screening instrument provides one

method to obtain the necessary history for rendering a specific diagnosis in conjunction with the DC/TMD pain-related diagnostic algorithms (see below).

- B. The changes in the diagnostic algorithms for the pain diagnoses in the DC/TMD, as compared to the corresponding disorders in the RDC/TMD, are summarized in Table 4. In the DC/TMD, myalgia has replaced the term myofascial pain, as found in the RDC/TMD. Further detail regarding these changes can be found in the Examination Specifications.⁴⁵ The diagnostic algorithms in the DC/TMD for arthralgia and myalgia now include criteria for modification of pain by function, movement or parafunction; these criteria are also included in the TMD Pain Screener. The clinical exam includes provocation tests for TMJ arthralgia of pain with any jaw movement (i.e., opening, excursive, and protrusive) and TMJ palpation. For myalgia, the tests include pain with opening jaw movements and palpation of the temporalis and masseter muscles. Pain from these provocation tests must replicate the patient's pain complaint.
- C. The sub-disorder of myofascial pain with limited opening, as described in the RDC/TMD, is eliminated.
- D. Myofascial pain with referral is included as a new **type of** disorder. The palpation procedure for eliciting referred pain, as a necessary criterion for this disorder, requires sustained pressure for 5 seconds.
- E. For the DC/TMD, muscle pain diagnoses are organized into 4 major subclasses (see Table 3). Myalgia is further subdivided into three mutually exclusive types of myalgia: local myalgia, myofascial pain, and myofascial pain with referral. Sufficient data from the Validation Project existed to estimate the criterion validity

for myalgia as a class (sensitivity and specificity of 0.90 and 1.00, respectively) and myofascial pain with referral as a type of myalgia (sensitivity and specificity of 0.85 and 0.98, respectively). For the other two types of myalgia, local myalgia and myofascial pain, the combined sensitivity and specificity are 0.84 and 0.95, respectively. The diagnostic criteria for myalgia and myofascial pain with referral are listed in Table 1. Diagnostic criteria for local myalgia and myofascial pain will be available on the Consortium website. Therefore, if a diagnosis of myalgia is desired, and no distinction between the types is needed, then the more general diagnostic procedures are sufficient (see Table 1).

2. Workshop Recommendations for Axis I TMJ Disc Displacement (DD) and

Degenerative Joint Disease (DJD)

- A. The clinical procedures for assessing DD with reduction, DD without reduction without limited opening, and DJD lead to clinical diagnoses ~~based on procedures~~ that exhibit low sensitivity but good to excellent specificity. Consequently, for treatment decision-making in selective cases, confirmation of a provisional clinical diagnosis requires imaging. In contrast, the clinical procedures for assessing DD without reduction with limited opening have acceptable sensitivity and specificity, and the clinical evaluation may be sufficient for the initial working diagnosis.
- B. The changes made to the diagnostic algorithms in the DC/TMD for DDs and DJD as compared to the RDC/TMD are summarized in Table 5. Further detail regarding these changes can be found in the Examination Specifications.⁴⁵ TMJ

Deleted: characterized by

noise by history is a criterion for the intra-articular disorders of DD with reduction and DJD. For DD with reduction, examiner detection of clicking, popping or snapping noises during the examination is required. For DJD, the detection of crepitus during the examination is required, either by the examiner or by the patient with examiner assistance regarding clarification of type of noise present (e.g., crunching, grinding or grating noises). Inclusion of the latter criterion improved the sensitivity for this diagnosis from 20% to 49%. For DJD, no distinction between fine versus coarse crepitus is made. Finally, for DD without reduction, an assisted opening measurement (including the amount of vertical incisal overlap) of <40 mm yields the subtype of “with limited opening” while the measurement \geq 40 mm yields the subtype of “without limited opening”, and joint noises, if present, do not affect the diagnosis as long as the required criteria are met.

- C. DD with reduction with intermittent locking and TMJ dislocation are included as new ~~types of disorder~~. The diagnostic algorithms for these disorders include specific criteria from the patient history including current intermittent locking with limited opening and jaw locking in the wide-open position for DD with reduction with intermittent locking and TMJ dislocation, respectively.

Deleted: disorders.

- D. Nomenclature change: The terms osteoarthritis and osteoarthrosis are considered ~~to denote subclasses~~ of DJD.

Deleted: a subclassification

3. Workshop Recommendations for Axis I Headache Disorders

“Headache attributed to TMD” is included as a new disorder **type** to replace “Headache or facial pain attributed to temporomandibular joint (TMJ)” disorder as described in the International Classification of Headache Disorders II (ICHD II).⁴⁶ The diagnostic algorithm for Headache attributed to TMD has been previously published.⁴⁷

Deleted:)

Deleted: ⁴⁶

4. Workshop Recommendations for Axis II Evaluation.

It is well recognized that the patient's cognitive, emotional, and behavioral response to pain are quite independent of the source of their pain so the workgroup recommended the use of instruments currently used in other areas of medicine to assess the psychosocial functioning associated with any pain condition. In addition, the Jaw Functional Limitation Scale was selected to assess jaw function specific to TMD. The criteria used to select the additional Axis II instruments were reliability, validity, interpretability, patient and clinician acceptability, patient burden, and feasibility as well as availability of translated versions for different languages and cultures. All areas of biopsychosocial assessment with the recommended instruments are available from the Consortium^{48,49} and are summarized in Table 6.

- A. Axis II screeners. Three simple self-report screening instruments are included for detection of pain-relevant psychosocial and behavioral functioning. The Patient Health Questionnaire-4 (PHQ-4) is a short, reliable, and valid screening instrument for detecting “psychological distress” due to anxiety and/or depression in patients in any clinical setting.⁵⁰ A cutoff of ≥ 6 , suggesting moderate psychological stress, should be interpreted as warranting observation, while a

cutoff of ≥ 9 , suggesting severe psychological distress, should be interpreted as warranting either further assessment or referral.⁵⁰ The Graded Chronic Pain Scale (GCPS) is a short, reliable, and valid instrument that assesses pain intensity and pain-related disability.⁹ The two GCPS subscales are Characteristic Pain Intensity (CPI) that reliably measures pain intensity with $\geq 50/100$ considered “high intensity” and the pain-disability rating is based on number of days that pain interferes with activity and on interference with social, work, or usual daily activities. High pain and high interference, or moderate to severe disability (classified as Grades 3 or 4) should be interpreted as disability due to pain, warranting further investigation and suggests a possible complex patient where the individual is experiencing significant life impact from the TMD. The third instrument is a pain drawing of the head, jaw and body and it allows the patient to report the location of all pain complaints.^{51,52} Widespread pain suggests the need for comprehensive assessment of the patient.

- B. Additional assessment instruments. The reliable and valid Jaw Functional Limitation Scale (JFLS) has a short form that assesses global limitations across mastication, jaw mobility, and verbal and emotional expression.^{53,54} The Oral Behaviors Checklist (OBC) assesses the frequency of oral parafunctional behaviors.^{55,56}

Deleted: ^{54,}

- C. Comprehensive Axis II Instruments. The remaining instruments to be used when indicated by specialists or researchers in order to obtain a more comprehensive evaluation of psychosocial functioning are listed in Table 6 and follow the Initiative on Methods, Measurements and Pain Assessment in Clinic Trials

(IMMPACT) recommendations.⁵⁷ Those recommendations include assessment of pain intensity, physical functioning (both general and disease-specific), and emotional functioning. In addition to measuring pain intensity and disease-specific physical functioning (via GCPS and JFLS, respectively, as described above), the DC/TMD includes new measures for a more comprehensive assessment of emotional functioning using the PHQ-9⁵⁸ for depression (with cutoffs of 5, 10, 15, and 20 representing, respectively, mild, moderate, moderately severe, and severe levels of depression) and GAD-7⁵⁹ for anxiety (with cutoffs of 10 and 15 representing, respectively, moderate and severe levels of anxiety). Finally, like the RDC/TMD, the DC/TMD retains a measure for physical symptoms using the PHQ-15⁶⁰ (with cutoffs of 5, 10, and 15 representing, respectively, low, medium, and high somatic symptom severity) due to the overwhelming importance of overall symptom reporting in individuals with TMD.⁶¹ The SCL90-based measures in the RDC/TMD were replaced in the DC/TMD for several reasons: length, public-domain, and application to medical settings.

5. Data Collection Forms and Examination Specifications. A short, focused Patient History Questionnaire (PHQ)⁶² was developed to assess pain intensity as well as history of jaw noise, jaw locking, and headache potentially **to be** attributed to TMD. The PHQ provides the necessary history for the Axis I diagnostic criteria. The DC/TMD operational specifications for the clinical tests, examination forms, PHQ,

and biobehavioral assessment instruments can be downloaded from the Consortium website³⁷ and used without copyright infringement.

Discussion

The DC/TMD is an evidence-based assessment protocol that can be immediately implemented in the clinical and research setting. Compared to the RDC/TMD, the DC/TMD is easier to use, includes valid Axis I and Axis II patient screeners, and provides valid Axis I diagnostic algorithms for the most common TMD as part of a comprehensive TMD taxonomic classification structure. Axis I core assessment instruments assess history of jaw noise and locking, and headache attributed to TMD; Axis II core assessment instruments assess pain intensity, general functioning, jaw functioning, **psychosocial** distress, and potential contributing factors of parafunctional behaviors and widespread pain. These changes in the core patient assessment instrument set, as compared to the RDC/TMD, continue to serve as a broad foundation for patient assessment and further research. The DC/TMD includes important additions, deletions and modifications to the original RDC/TMD that deserve comment. These changes are a result of research findings and expert contributions from professional TMD clinical and research groups guided by the principle to create a parsimonious DC/TMD based on the best available evidence. This manuscript cites the core assessment instruments that existed at the time of this publication and these instruments will be updated as indicated in the future with the most current versions available on the Consortium website.³⁷

Deleted: psychological

Deleted: ³⁶

Changes to the RDC/TMD History and Examination

The criterion for a patient report of pain modified, that is, made better or worse, by jaw function, movement or parafunction is now a requirement for all pain-related TMD diagnoses; this feature is shared with other musculoskeletal pains.^{63,64} Questions regarding pain modification are integral to the history provided by the TMD Pain Screener or by the more comprehensive DC/TMD Patient History Questionnaire that contains all of the history questions required for the DC/TMD diagnostic algorithms. Pain modification is especially important in differential diagnosis in a broader clinical setting when co-morbid conditions may be present, especially other trigeminal system-mediated pain conditions.

The clinical provocation of “familiar pain” has proved useful in the assessment of other orthopedic and pain disorders.⁶⁵⁻⁷¹ The rationale is that the clinician needs to provoke the patient’s pain complaint in order for a positive examination response to be clinically meaningful. A patient report of “familiar pain” is required with pain provoked by jaw movement and/or palpation to diagnose pain-related TMD including arthralgia, myalgia and myofascial pain with referral. “Familiar pain” is pain that is like or similar to the pain the patient has been experiencing. The intent is to replicate the patient’s **chief complaint of pain(s) in such a way that the patient describes that provoked pain in the same way – because it is the same type of pain.** This criterion minimizes false positive findings from pain provoking tests in asymptomatic patients and incidental findings in symptomatic patients. Similarly, a report of “familiar headache” is required from the examination as part of the diagnostic algorithm for **what is termed** “Headache attributed to TMD”. It must, however, be emphasized that the presence of “familiar pain” is not

Deleted: and

Deleted: complaints

Deleted:).

associated exclusively with the diagnoses of myalgia, myofascial pain with referral, or arthralgia, as other conditions may cause “familiar pain” during jaw movement or from palpation of jaw structures such as muscle or joint. For example, rheumatoid disease affecting the TMJ and infection can result in the report of “familiar pain” from movement and/or palpation of the associated structures. In order for the criterion of “familiar pain” to lead logically to the specified diagnosis, the signs must explain the symptoms; the symptom history, or additional assessment, must effectively rule out other competing diagnoses.⁷²

Deleted: , and

For myalgia and myofascial pain with referral diagnoses, palpation of only the temporalis and masseter muscles is required; mandatory palpation of the temporalis tendon, lateral pterygoid area, submandibular region, and posterior mandibular region has been eliminated because of poor reliability,⁷³⁻⁷⁵ and not examining these areas does not significantly affect the validity of these diagnoses.²⁶ For example, the lateral pterygoid is commonly tender in non-cases, leading to false positives in the RDC/TMD.⁷³ It is also uncommon for these other sites to be painful to palpation when the masseter or temporalis muscles are not, but they may be used when clinically indicated. For the same reason, palpation of the posterior aspect of the TMJ through the external auditory meatus has also been eliminated but can also be used when clinically indicated.

TMJ noises can be difficult to detect, even with auscultation using a stethoscope, and can be sporadically present. For DJD, including patient report of crepitus during the examination with guidance from the clinician substantially improves its diagnostic accuracy.²⁶ Patient report of noises such as crunching, grinding or grating noises (i.e.,

crepitus) typically requires reviewing these noises with the patient and then carefully interpreting their responses. The distinction between coarse and fine crepitus was omitted as these sounds are not reliably distinguished and the distinction does not contribute to DJD's diagnostic validity.

Changes to the RDC/TMD Pain Diagnoses

The RDC/TMD diagnosis of myofascial pain with limited opening has not yet demonstrated unique clinical utility and was eliminated. The remaining RDC/TMD diagnosis of myofascial pain has been reorganized in the DC/TMD into two new validated disorders: myalgia (as a subclass of muscle pain disorders) and myofascial pain with referral (as a type of myalgia); see Table 3. Myofascial pain with referral is a distinct clinical disorder with central convergence accounting for the referral of pain to other anatomical sites.⁷⁶⁻⁷⁸ Referred pain has clinical utility for, at a minimum, differential diagnosis regarding the identification of pain in other anatomical locations, including referred pain to the teeth, that is ultimately pain of muscular origin.

The term "Headache Attributed to TMD" is a new Axis I diagnostic classification.⁷⁹ Tension-type headache (TTH) and migraine have been associated with TMD.^{18,80-87} In particular, TTH and TMD share many symptoms,^{18,87,88} although this may not imply identical pathophysiology or underlying mechanisms.^{85,88,89} A subgroup of headache patients experience increased headache following masticatory system provocation such as clenching of the teeth (i.e., parafunctional behaviors).^{85,86,89,90} Longitudinal studies have found that the development of TMD was accompanied by an increase in headache and that the presence of TMD at baseline predicted the onset of headache.^{91,92} Finally, treatment of the masticatory system has also been associated

Deleted: , and

Deleted: disorder

Deleted: in the DC/TMD

Deleted: category

with a report of decreased headaches. These findings suggest that some headaches may be secondary to TMD.⁹³⁻⁹⁵

Deleted: ⁹²⁻⁹⁴

Frequency of TTH⁹⁶ and migraine correlate with functional disability and is a useful patient characterization,⁹⁷⁻⁹⁹ and increased frequency of headaches in the temples is associated with increased symptoms of painful TMD.⁹⁹ Future research will explore whether sub-classification of headache attributed to TMD, arthralgia and myofascial pain in terms of frequency of pain occurrence can also improve the identification of patients with more complex pain problems. Consequently, frequency and duration of “jaw pain” is included in a longer version of the DC/TMD Patient History Questionnaire, available on the Consortium website.

Changes to the RDC/TMD TMJ Diagnoses

A diagnostic category of DD with reduction with intermittent limited opening (i.e., episodic self-limiting “closed lock”) was included in the DC/TMD. This is a common, clinically significant mechanical joint disorder that can require treatment. Another newly included diagnostic category is the mechanical joint disorder, TMJ dislocation characterized by “open lock” of the jaw and typically diagnosed based on patient history. If the patient is able to reduce this dislocation it is termed “subluxation,” and if the dislocation requires an interventional reduction it is termed “luxation”. Sufficient data were only available to assess the diagnostic validity of subluxation.¹⁰⁰

Deleted: A diagnosis

Deleted: is

The low sensitivity for the diagnostic algorithms for DD and DJD suggest these criteria be limited to providing provisional diagnoses. For example, for a diagnosis of DD with reduction, a positive history of noise and the presence clinically of clicking noises (as specified) effectively rules in the diagnosis due to the criteria’s high specificity, while

a negative finding can be associated with false negatives due to low sensitivity. That is, some DD with reduction will not have clinically detectable noise, have fewer clicks or different types of noise, and will not be diagnosed using the clinical criteria.¹⁰¹ Based on available data, DD with reduction are highly prevalent and are probably without clinical consequence in the absence of pain occurring with the noise, or presence of functional limitations such as limited opening or interference in mastication. Nevertheless, imaging using MRI and CT is required for a definitive diagnosis of TMJ DD and DJD, respectively, and especially when the DC/TMD leads to a negative outcome in association with a clinical history that suggests a clinically important disc–condyle complex disorder. The single diagnostic exception is DD without reduction with limited opening (i.e., “closed lock”), which shows good diagnostic validity without imaging (i.e., sensitivity 80%; specificity 97%). However, the criteria for DD without reduction with limited opening have not been assessed with subjects with other causes of limited opening (e.g., adhesions, coronoid hyperplasia or muscle contracture). The need for a definitive DD diagnosis, and thus the indication to use imaging is based on whether the information gained will change the patient’s treatment plan or prognosis. Reliable imaging criteria for these disorders are available.¹⁰²

Deleted: ¹⁰¹

Taxonomic Classification Structure and Classification of the less common TMDs

A comprehensive taxonomic system is presented in Table 3. The diagnostic criteria for the less common TMD were derived from the AAOP guidelines augmented with the best available definitions for those TMD as well as those TMD not identified by the AAOP guidelines. These criteria will be available on the Consortium website where they can be continually updated as new information emerges. The AAOP-based diagnostic criteria

were developed by clinicians and researchers based on their experience and the literature.⁴⁰ However, as these criteria have not been assessed for diagnostic accuracy, special caution should accompany clinical use. Treatment decisions based on these diagnoses should be undertaken with careful consideration of all risks and benefits associated with the resulting care plan.

Nomenclature

Since the terms osteoarthritis and osteoarthritis have not been consistently used in medicine, these terms were subclassified under the broader term DJD. Use of DJD is also endorsed by the American Association of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgeons.¹⁰³ When pain co-occurs with DJD, the additional diagnosis of “arthralgia” can be used – as is the case with DD. A former diagnosis of osteoarthritis by the RDC/TMD is now dually coded as both degenerative joint disease and joint pain.

Changes to RDC/TMD Axis II

IMMPACT guidelines for clinical trials assessing pain recommend that patients be assessed for pain intensity and emotional functioning as well as general and “disease specific” physical functioning.⁵⁷ These four domains are assessed using the core Axis II instruments of GCPS (pain intensity subscale), PHQ-4 (emotional functioning), GCPS (general physical functioning using the interference subscale) and the JFLS (disease specific physical functioning). The primary Axis II domains from the RDC/TMD have been retained but are now measured more efficiently. Domains that bridge behavior with Axis I and are of direct utility for the clinician and researcher have been added. The biopsychosocial model of pain recognizes that pain is not purely a sensory process but that it is always accompanied by cognitive, emotional, and behavioral aspects that

influence how a patient reacts to and reports pain, and that, in turn, result in coping strategies ~~that~~ may be helpful or harmful in maintaining adequate ~~functioning~~. If these coping strategies are harmful, they can contribute to the development of chronic pain.

Deleted: which

Deleted: function

Indeed, a set of psychosocial factors such as anxiety, depressed mood, psychological distress, fear-avoidance beliefs, catastrophic thoughts, passive coping strategies, and social isolation have been recognized as risk factors for the development of chronic pain in musculoskeletal disorders.¹⁰⁴⁻¹⁰⁶ Similar risk factors have also been identified for chronicity in individuals with TMD.^{17,61,107,108}

In addition, psychosocial factors are at least as important for the treatment outcome as are initial pain intensity and physical diagnoses.^{109,110} The expansion of Axis II instruments for the DC/TMD serves to better evaluate the patient's psychosocial and behavioral status in order to identify the presence of these risk factors that must be addressed from the beginning of any treatment and thereby decrease the risk of the patient developing chronic pain.^{105,111} Core risk factor assessment instruments include the OBC to identify maladaptive parafunctional behaviors and the pain drawing to readily identify presence of widespread pain or other regional pain conditions. Frequent maladaptive parafunctional behaviors appear to create repetitive trauma to the masticatory system, and when the patient cannot learn to control them, the presence of significant psychosocial distress should be considered as another co-morbid condition contributing to the persistence of the disorder. Widespread pain suggests potential systemic disorders including rheumatic diseases and/or central sensitization (e.g., fibromyalgia) suggesting the need for further medical assessment. It is therefore advisable that the core set of Axis II instruments be used routinely in all clinical

assessments. Their use in the clinical setting will facilitate the prevention of chronicity among individuals with recent onset TMD and will result in more efficient management of chronic TMD.

An in-depth evaluation of the patient's psychosocial status is important for all research studies comparing TMD treatment modalities. Otherwise, it is difficult to foresee how such research that does not take into account important risk factors can improve our understanding of TMD and provide us with the treatment of choice.²³ This is because Axis II psychosocial factors have better prognostic value than Axis I physical diagnoses.^{17,108}

Deleted: ^{16,107}

Clinical Application of the DC/TMD

The comprehensive evaluation necessary to design a specific patient's care plan is beyond the scope of this paper; the reader is referred to a clinical assessment protocol⁷², for example, within which the DC/TMD can be used. Before using the DC/TMD, other orofacial pathology, including odontogenic pathology, trigeminal autonomic dysfunction cephalalgias, other headache disorders, and neuropathic pain disorders needs to be ruled out. An "unusual" presentation such as swelling, warmth and redness, autonomic signs, or sensory or motor deficiencies warrants high suspicion, since these are not typical TMD signs. The DC/TMD is an effective and efficient adjunct to well-developed clinical reasoning skills, keeping in mind that the history must lead to a provisional diagnosis and the clinical examination, augmented when indicated by other assessment tools, is needed to confirm or refute this provisional diagnosis. The validity of the diagnostic criteria revolves around use of reliable clinical tests; several versions of the clinical procedures are available on the

Consortium website.⁴⁵ Finally, multiple diagnoses are permitted: one of the muscle pain diagnoses (myalgia or myofascial pain with referral), as well as diagnoses for each joint (a joint pain diagnosis, any one of four disc displacement diagnoses, a degenerative joint disorder diagnosis, and/or a subluxation diagnosis). In addition to the formal DC/TMD diagnoses for the common disorders, other diagnoses as listed in Table 3 may be required in order to fully capture all findings; for example, a lateral pterygoid spasm could co-exist with a myalgia of the other masticatory muscles, resulting in two muscle diagnoses.

The DC/TMD assessment protocol has both screening and confirmatory tests for the most common Axis I physical diagnoses and for Axis II contributing factors (see Table 7). The Axis I TMD Pain Screener is recommended for all patients in any clinical setting.⁴⁴ A positive screen is followed by further evaluation to arrive at the specific TMD pain-related diagnoses. The Axis II screening instruments consist of 11 questions from the PHQ-4 and GCPS as well as a pain drawing with minimal burden to the patient and clinician;^{9,50} their use is recommended when triage indicates a pain disorder is present, and their use should be considered mandatory in case of persistent pain lasting 6 months or longer or in the presence of prior unsuccessful treatment(s). Overall, the Axis II screening instruments identify barriers to treatment response, contributors to chronicity, and targets for further intervention.^{14,15} Positive findings with these screening instruments require further investigation using either the comprehensive Axis II assessment instruments listed in Table 6, or referral to the patient's physician or a qualified mental health provider, ideally a health psychologist and/or psychiatrist depending on the findings from this assessment.¹¹²

Deleted: ¹¹¹

The final two Axis II instruments can be used with any patient. The OBC assesses for the presence of parafunctional behaviors which may be a form of trauma to the masticatory system.¹¹³ Likewise, the JFLS can be used to identify jaw related functional limitations that may be present in any patient and then can be used to document changes over time. Axis II instruments and their application are discussed more fully elsewhere.^{27,28,114} All Axis II instruments are available on the Consortium website.

Adjunctive Tests

The DC/TMD provides the core provocation tests necessary for the diagnosis of masticatory muscle and TMJ pain but false positives and negatives can occur. Adjunctive tests may include static and dynamic tests, joint play tests such as compression and distraction, bite tests, “end-feel” tests, clenching tests, and palpation of the other masticatory muscles that are not part of the core criteria¹¹⁵⁻¹²¹ Even though these tests did not improve overall validity of the diagnostic algorithms, they may, nevertheless, be useful in specific circumstances where the history suggests a pain-related TMD and the formal DC/TMD examination protocol is negative.^{26,119,121,122} When used, these adjunctive tests must also provoke “familiar pain”. Occlusal tests also did not contribute to the diagnostic validity of any of the TMDs, but occlusal factors including intercuspal occlusal contacts, open bite, and the slide from centric relation to maximum intercuspal position can all be affected by DD and DJD¹²³ and documentation of occlusal status during initial assessment is warranted. The history and clinical examination remains the cornerstone for TMD diagnosis, and all adjunctive tests, including electronic diagnostic instruments, require assessment for their diagnostic

accuracy and evidence of incremental validity for a true positive diagnosis of TMD prior to being recommended for clinical use.¹²⁴⁻¹²⁶

Patient advocacy

The workshop had the benefit of obtaining patient advocate input. A paradigm shift was advocated from a doctor-based assessment to patient-reported assessment. In short, patients want their symptom experience to be a more central part of the assessment and treatment recommendations. For example, limited mouth opening has been traditionally assessed using less than 40 mm as a “cut-off” and recent population based study involving more than 20,000 individuals supports this cutoff.¹²⁷ An alternative perspective is to ask the patient if they perceive a limitation in their opening independent of this “cut-off”. Ultimately, what the patient believes, feels and reports is **as important as what the clinician is able to observe and measure.**

Deleted: what really matters.

Future Directions

The DC/TMD, like the RDC/TMD, needs to be further tested and periodically reassessed to make appropriate modifications to maximize its full value as new research findings are reported. Ongoing changes and updates to the DC/TMD will be managed and available through the International RDC/TMD Consortium Network. We encourage the larger TMD community to make recommendations for its development including developing assessment tools for use in children and adolescents, validate the DC/TMD in diverse settings, and expand the Axis II tools in order to contribute to the ongoing development of its validity - and clinical utility.

In terms of immediate goals, ongoing processes through the Consortium include further development of the taxonomy for Axis I conditions and critical review of Axis II

constructs and instruments. Research regarding the ontological structure of both Axis I and Axis II concepts is ongoing in order to develop more logical taxonomic concepts. Axis III is being developed for identifying clinically relevant biomarkers such as quantitative sensory measures as well as genomic or molecular profiles. Finally, an Axis IV is envisioned as a method to classify a patient into clinically meaningful categories by collapsing large amounts of variability across biopsychosocial and molecular genomic domains through, for example, the use of modern clustering models.¹²⁸

Deleted: ¹²⁷

Although the DC/TMD will be an important tool for future research projects addressing the underlying TMD mechanisms and etiologies, the DC/TMD has limitations. It is now recognized that TMD is a heterogeneous group with manifestations well beyond the signs and symptoms associated with the current Axis I diagnoses. TMD is frequently associated with complaints indicating one or more other persistent pain conditions.^{10,129} This fact requires a broader assessment of TMD patients beyond Axis

Deleted: disorder

Deleted: at least

Deleted: condition, and not uncommonly associated with multiple other pain

I, and it underlies the significance of Axis II and the current development of Axis III. A more comprehensive medical assessment of co-morbid physical disorders and biobehavioral status with expansion of Axis II risk determinants for TMD will allow for identifying subpopulations of patients based on underlying pathophysiological mechanisms.¹³⁰ This will lead to development of new algorithms and new diagnostic categories that are based on etiologies and a parallel classification based on mechanisms. Consequently, we expect that such categories, including the associated diagnostic procedures, will contribute to the development of personalized treatments for TMD patients - and other related conditions with a high comorbidity with TMD. We are

Deleted: and etiologies

at the beginning of a new horizon that shows great promise in producing new diagnostic procedures and treatment modalities for TMD and other inter-related conditions.

Conclusions

The DC/TMD is intended for use within any clinical setting and supports the full range of diagnostic activities from screening to definitive evaluation and diagnosis. The DC/TMD provides a common language for all clinicians while providing the researcher with the methods for valid phenotyping of their subjects – especially for pain-related TMD.

Although the validity data identifies the need for imaging in order to obtain a definitive TMJ-related diagnosis, imaging should not be used routinely but rather considered when it is important to a specific patient or a research question. The Axis II screeners

provide the clinician with an easy method to screen for pain intensity, **psychosocial** distress and pain-related disability in order to plan treatment and consider prognosis.

The additional Axis II instruments, a core part of all TMD assessments, provide the clinician and researcher with current methods to further assess the status of the individual regarding multiple risk factors relevant to pain management. The DC/TMD is a necessary step towards the ultimate goal of developing a mechanism- and etiology-based DC/TMD that will more accurately direct the clinician in providing personalized care for their patients.

Deleted: psychological

Acknowledgements

Research performed by the Validation Project Research Group was supported by

NIH/NIDCR U01-~~DE013331~~. The development of the examination specifications in support of the diagnostic criteria was also supported by NIH/NIDCR U01-DE017018.

Workshop support was provided by International Association for Dental Research, Canadian Institute for Health Research, International RDC/TMD Consortium Network, Medotech, National Center for Biomedical Ontology, Orofacial Pain Special Interest Group of the International Association for the Study of Pain, and Journal of Oral Rehabilitation. The authors thank the American Academy of Orofacial Pain for their support, Terri Cowley, President of the TMJ Association, for her participation in the Miami workshop, and Dr. Vladimir Leon-Salazar for his assistance with finishing the manuscript. The Taxonomy Committee was comprised of Jean-Paul Goulet, Thomas List, Richard Ohrbach (chair), and Peter Svensson.

Deleted: DE13331. Workshop support were

References

1. National Institute of Dental and Craniofacial Research. Facial Pain. <http://www.nidcr.nih.gov/DataStatistics/FindDataByTopic/FacialPain/> (accessed, 09/06/2012).
2. Feinstein, AR. Clinical judgment. Clinical judgment. Baltimore:Williams & Wilkins, 1967:414.
3. Dworkin SF, LeResche L. Research diagnostic criteria for temporomandibular disorders: Review criteria, examinations and specifications, critique. J Craniomandib Disord 1992;6:301-355.
4. Loeser, JD & WE Fordyce. Chronic Pain In:Carr JE and Dengerink HA (eds). Behavioral Science in the Practice of Medicine. New York:Elsevier, 1983:331-346.
5. Truelove EL, Sommers EE, LeResche L, Dworkin SF, Von Korff M. Clinical diagnostic criteria for TMD. New classification permits multiple diagnoses. J Am Dent Assoc 1992;123:47-54.
6. John MT, Dworkin SF, Mancl LA. Reliability of clinical temporomandibular disorder diagnoses. Pain 2005;118:61-69.
7. Truelove E, Pan W, Look JO, Mancl LA, Ohrbach RK, Velly AM, et al. The Research Diagnostic Criteria for Temporomandibular Disorders. III: validity of Axis I diagnoses. J Orofac Pain 2010;24:35-47.
8. Turk DC, Rudy TE. Towards a comprehensive assessment of chronic pain patients. Behav Res Ther 1987;25:237-249.
9. Von Korff M, Ormel J, Keefe FJ, Dworkin SF. Grading the severity of chronic pain. Pain 1992;50:133-149.
10. Dworkin SF, Von KM, LeResche L. Multiple pains and psychiatric disturbance. An epidemiologic investigation. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1990;47:239-244.
11. Osterweis M, Kleinman A, Mechanic D, Institute of Medicine . Committee on Pain, Disability, and Chronic Illness Behavior. Pain and disability : clinical, behavioral, and public policy perspectives. Washington, DC: National Academy Press, 1987:306.
12. Dworkin SF, von Korff MR, LeResche L. Epidemiologic studies of chronic pain: A dynamic-ecologic perspective. Ann Behav Med 1992;14:3-11.
13. Marcusson A, List T, Paulin G, Dworkin S. Temporomandibular disorders in adults with repaired cleft lip and palate: a comparison with controls. Eur J Orthod 2001;23:193-204.

14. Dworkin SF, Huggins KH, Wilson L, Mancl L, Turner J, Massoth D, et al. A randomized clinical trial using research diagnostic criteria for temporomandibular disorders-axis II to target clinic cases for a tailored self-care TMD treatment program. *J Orofac Pain* 2002;16:48-63.
15. Dworkin SF, Turner J, Mancl L, Wilson L, Massoth D, Huggins KH, et al. A Randomized Clinical Trial of a Tailored Comprehensive Care Treatment Program for Temporomandibular Disorders. *J Orofac Pain* 2002;16:259-276.
16. Epker J, Gatchel RJ. Prediction of treatment-seeking behavior in acute TMD patients: practical application in clinical settings. *J Orofac Pain* 2000;14:303-309.
17. Garofalo JP, Gatchel RJ, Wesley AL, Ellis E 3rd. Predicting chronicity in acute temporomandibular joint disorders using the research diagnostic criteria. *J Am Dent Assoc* 1998;129:438-447.
18. Ballegaard V, Thede-Schmidt-Hansen P, Svensson P, Jensen R. Are headache and temporomandibular disorders related? A blinded study. *Cephalalgia* 2008;28:832-841.
19. van der Meulen MJ, Lobbezoo F, Aartman IH, Naeije M. Ethnic background as a factor in temporomandibular disorder complaints. *J Orofac Pain* 2009;23:38-46.
20. Epker J, Gatchel RJ, Ellis E 3rd. A model for predicting chronic TMD: practical application in clinical settings. *J Am Dent Assoc* 1999;130:1470-1475.
21. Brister H, Turner JA, Aaron LA, Mancl L. Self-efficacy is associated with pain, functioning, and coping in patients with chronic temporomandibular disorder pain. *J Orofac Pain* 2006;20:115-124.
22. Turner JA, Brister H, Huggins K, Mancl L, Aaron LA, Truelove EL. Catastrophizing is associated with clinical examination findings, activity interference, and health care use among patients with temporomandibular disorders. *J Orofac Pain* 2005;19:291-300.
23. Palla S. Biopsychosocial pain model crippled? *J Orofac Pain* 2011;25:289-290.
24. Schiffman EL, Truelove EL, Ohrbach R, Anderson GC, John MT, List T, et al. The Research Diagnostic Criteria for Temporomandibular Disorders. I: overview and methodology for assessment of validity. *J Orofac Pain* 2010;24:7-24.
25. Look JO, John MT, Tai F, Huggins KH, Lenton PA, Truelove EL, et al. The Research Diagnostic Criteria For Temporomandibular Disorders. II: reliability of Axis I diagnoses and selected clinical measures. *J Orofac Pain* 2010;24:25-34.
26. Schiffman EL, Ohrbach R, Truelove EL, Tai F, Anderson GC, Pan W, et al. The Research Diagnostic Criteria for Temporomandibular Disorders. V: methods used to

establish and validate revised Axis I diagnostic algorithms. J Orofac Pain 2010;24:63-78.

27. Ohrbach R, Turner JA, Sherman JJ, Mancl LA, Truelove EL, Schiffman EL, et al. The Research Diagnostic Criteria for Temporomandibular Disorders. IV: evaluation of psychometric properties of the Axis II measures. J Orofac Pain 2010;24:48-62.

28. Anderson GC, Gonzalez YM, Ohrbach R, Truelove EL, Sommers E, Look JO, et al. The Research Diagnostic Criteria for Temporomandibular Disorders. VI: future directions. J Orofac Pain 2010;24:79-88.

29. List T, Greene CS. Moving forward with the RDC/TMD. J Oral Rehabil 2010;37:731-733.

30. Stegenga B. Nomenclature and classification of temporomandibular joint disorders. J Oral Rehabil 2010;37:760-765.

31. Lobbezoo F, Visscher CM, Naeije M. Some remarks on the RDC/TMD Validation Project: report of an IADR/Toronto-2008 workshop discussion. J Oral Rehabil 2010;37:779-783.

32. John MT. Improving TMD classification using the Delphi technique. J Oral Rehabil 2010;37:766-770.

33. Haythornthwaite JA. IMMPACT recommendations for clinical trials: opportunities for the RDC/TMD. J Oral Rehabil 2010;37:799-806.

34. Dworkin SF. Research Diagnostic criteria for Temporomandibular Disorders: current status & future relevance. J Oral Rehabil 2010;37:734-743.

35. Look JO, Schiffman EL, Truelove EL, Ahmad M. Reliability and validity of Axis I of the Research Diagnostic Criteria for Temporomandibular Disorders (RDC/TMD) with proposed revisions. J Oral Rehabil 2010;37:744-759.

36. Ohrbach R, List T, Goulet JP, Svensson P. Recommendations from the International Consensus Workshop: convergence on an orofacial pain taxonomy. J Oral Rehabil 2010;37:807-812.

37. <http://www.rdc-tmdinternational.org/TMDAssessmentDiagnosis/DCTMD.aspx> (accessed, 11/27/2012).

38. Cairns B, List T, Michelotti A, Ohrbach R, Svensson P. JOR-CORE recommendations on rehabilitation of temporomandibular disorders. J Oral Rehabil 2010;37:481-489.

39. History of development of the DC/TMD. http://www.rdc-tmdinternational.org/Portals/18/protocol_DC-TMD/Development%20of%20the%20DC-TMD_2012_11_06.pdf (accessed, 11/27/2012).
40. De Leeuw, R, American Academy of Orofacial Pain. Orofacial pain: guidelines for assessment, diagnosis, and management. Chicago, IL:Quintessence, 2008:316.
41. Diagnostic Criteria for Temporomandibular Disorders (DC/TMD): Diagnostic Decision Tree. http://www.rdc-tmdinternational.org/Portals/18/protocol_DC-TMD/DC-TMD%20decision%20trees%20index%20to%20short%20PHQ_2012-11-06.pdf (accessed, 11/27/2012).
42. Garofalo JP, Wesley AL. Research Diagnostic Criteria for Temporomandibular Disorders: Reflection of the physical-psychological interface. 1997;May/June:4-16.
43. TMD-Pain Screener. http://www.rdc-tmdinternational.org/Portals/18/Translations_other/TMD_Pain_Screener_English.pdf (accessed, 11/27/2012).
44. Gonzalez YM, Schiffman EL, Gordon SM, Seago B, Truelove E, Slade G, et al. Development of a brief and effective TMD-pain screening questionnaire: reliability and validity. J Am Dent Assoc 2011;24:1183-1191.
45. Ohrbach R, Gonzalez YM, List T, Michelotti A, Schiffman EL. Diagnostic Criteria for Temporomandibular Disorders (DC/TMD). Clinical Examination Protocol. http://www.rdc-tmdinternational.org/Portals/18/protocol_DC-TMD/DC-TMD%20Examiner%20Specifications_2012-11-06.pdf (accessed, 11/27/2012).
46. Headache Classification Subcommittee of the International Headache Society. The International Classification of Headache Disorders: 2nd edition. Cephalalgia 2004;24 Suppl 1:9-160.
47. Schiffman E, Ohrbach R, List T, Anderson G, Jensen R, John MT, et al. Diagnostic criteria for headache attributed to temporomandibular disorders. Cephalalgia 2012;32:683-692.
48. Complete Axis II assessment instruments. http://www.rdc-tmdinternational.org/Portals/18/protocol_DC-TMD/DC-TMD%20Axis%20II%20-%20complete_2012-11-06.pdf (accessed, 11/27/2012).
49. Screening Axis II assessment instruments. http://www.rdc-tmdinternational.org/Portals/18/protocol_DC-TMD/DC-TMD%20Axis%20II%20-%20screen_2012-11-06.pdf (accessed, 11/27/2012).
50. Kroenke K, Spitzer RL, Williams JB, Lowe B. An ultra-brief screening scale for anxiety and depression: the PHQ-4. Psychosomatics 2009;50:613-621.

51. Margolis RB, Chibnall JT, Tait RC. Test-retest reliability of the pain drawing instrument. *Pain* 1988;33:49-51.
52. DC/TMD Pain Drawing. http://www.rdc-tmdinternational.org/Portals/18/protocol_DC-TMD/DC-TMD%20pain%20drawing_2012-11-06.pdf (accessed, 11/27/2012).
53. Ohrbach R, Larsson P, List T. The jaw functional limitation scale: development, reliability, and validity of 8-item and 20-item versions. *J Orofac Pain* 2008;22:219-230.
54. Ohrbach R, Granger C, List T, Dworkin S. Preliminary development and validation of the Jaw Functional Limitation Scale. *Community Dent Oral Epidemiol* 2008;36:228-236.
55. Markiewicz MR, Ohrbach R, McCall WD Jr. Oral behaviors checklist: reliability of performance in targeted waking-state behaviors. *J Orofac Pain* 2006;20:306-316.
56. Ohrbach R, Markiewicz MR, McCall WD Jr. Waking-state oral parafunctional behaviors: specificity and validity as assessed by electromyography. *Eur J Oral Sci* 2008;116:438-444.
57. Dworkin RH, Turk DC, Farrar JT, Haythornthwaite JA, Jensen MP, Katz NP, et al. Core outcome measures for chronic pain clinical trials: IMMPACT recommendations. *Pain* 2005;113:9-19.
58. Kroenke K, Spitzer RL, Williams JB. The PHQ-9: validity of a brief depression severity measure. *J Gen Intern Med* 2001;16:606-613.
59. Lowe B, Decker O, Muller S, Brahler E, Schellberg D, Herzog W, et al. Validation and standardization of the Generalized Anxiety Disorder Screener (GAD-7) in the general population. *Med Care* 2008;46:266-274.
60. Kroenke K, Spitzer RL, Williams JB. The PHQ-15: validity of a new measure for evaluating the severity of somatic symptoms. *Psychosom Med* 2002;64:258-266.
61. Fillingim RB, Ohrbach R, Greenspan JD, Knott C, Dubner R, Bair E, et al. Potential psychosocial risk factors for chronic TMD: descriptive data and empirically identified domains from the OPPERA case-control study. *J Pain* 2011;12:T46-60.
62. DC/TMD Patient History Questionnaire. [http://www.rdc-tmdinternational.org/Portals/18/protocol_DC-TMD/DC-TMD PHQ_shortform_2012-11-06.pdf](http://www.rdc-tmdinternational.org/Portals/18/protocol_DC-TMD/DC-TMD_PHQ_shortform_2012-11-06.pdf) (accessed, 11/27/2012).
63. Solberg WK. Temporomandibular disorders: data collection and examination. *Br Dent J* 1986;160:317-322.
64. Greene CS. Validity of the Research Diagnostic Criteria for Temporomandibular Disorders Axis I in Clinical and Research Settings. *J Orofac Pain* 2009;23:20-23.

65. Schwarzer AC, Derby R, Aprill CN, Fortin J, Kine G, Bogduk N. The value of the provocation response in lumbar zygapophyseal joint injections. *Clin J Pain* 1994;10:309-313.
66. Thevenet P, Gosselin A, Bourdonnec C, Gosselin M, Bretagne JF, Gastard J, et al. pHmetry and manometry of the esophagus in patients with pain of the angina type and a normal angiography. *Gastroenterol Clin Biol* 1988;12:111-117.
67. Janssens J, Vantrappen G, Ghillebert G. 24-hour recording of esophageal pressure and pH in patients with noncardiac chest pain. *Gastroenterology* 1986;90:1978-1984.
68. Vaksman G, Ducloux G, Caron C, Manouvrier J, Millaire A. The ergometrine test: effects on esophageal motility in patients with chest pain and normal coronary arteries. *Can J Cardiol* 1987;3:168-172.
69. Davies HA, Kaye MD, Rhodes J, Dart AM, Henderson AH. Diagnosis of oesophageal spasm by ergometrine provocation. *Gut* 1982;23:89-97.
70. Wise CM, Semble EL, Dalton CB. Musculoskeletal chest wall syndromes in patients with noncardiac chest pain: a study of 100 patients. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil* 1992;73:147-149.
71. Kokkonen SM, Kurunlahti M, Tervonen O, Ilkko E, Vanharanta H. Endplate degeneration observed on magnetic resonance imaging of the lumbar spine: correlation with pain provocation and disc changes observed on computed tomography diskography. *Spine* 2002;27:2274-2278.
72. Goulet J, S Palla. The path to diagnosis. In: Sessle BJ, Lavigne GJ, Lund JP and Dubner R (eds). *Orofacial pain : from basic science to clinical management : the transfer of knowledge in pain research to education*. Chicago, IL: Quintessence, 2008:135-144.
73. Conti PC, Dos Santos Silva R, Rossetti LM, De Oliveira Ferreira Da Silva R, Do Valle AL, Gelmini M. Palpation of the lateral pterygoid area in the myofascial pain diagnosis. *Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod* 2008;105:e61-6.
74. Johnstone DR, Templeton M. The feasibility of palpating the lateral pterygoid muscle. *J Prosthet Dent* 1980;44:318-323.
75. Turp JC, Minagi S. Palpation of the lateral pterygoid region in TMD--where is the evidence? *J Dent* 2001;29:475-483.
76. Simons DG, Travell JG, Simons LS. *Travell & Simons' myofascial pain and dysfunction : the trigger point manual*. Baltimore:Williams & Wilkins, 1999:1038.

77. Sessle BJ. Acute and chronic craniofacial pain: brainstem mechanisms of nociceptive transmission and neuroplasticity, and their clinical correlates. 2000;11:57-91.
78. Woolf CJ. Central sensitization: implications for the diagnosis and treatment of pain. Pain 2011;152:S2-15.
79. Schiffman EL, Ohrbach R, List T, Anderson GC, Jensen R, John MT, et al. Diagnostic Criteria for Headache Attributed to Temporomandibular Disorders. Cephalalgia 2012;32:683-692.
80. Da Silva A Jr, Costa EC, Gomes JB, Leite FM, Gomez RS, Vasconcelos LP, et al. Chronic headache and comorbidities: a two-phase, population-based, cross-sectional study. Headache 2010;50:1306-1312.
81. Stuginski-Barbosa J, Macedo HR, Bigal ME, Speciali JG. Signs of temporomandibular disorders in migraine patients: a prospective, controlled study. Clin J Pain 2010;26:418-421.
82. Wahlund K. Temporomandibular disorders in adolescents. Epidemiological and methodological studies and a randomized controlled trial. Swed Dent J Suppl 2003;2-64.
83. Nilsson IM. Reliability, validity, incidence and impact of temporomandibular pain disorders in adolescents. Swed Dent J Suppl 2007;7-86.
84. Haley D, Schiffman E, Baker C, Belgrade M. The comparison of patients suffering from temporomandibular disorders and a general headache population. Headache 1993;33:210-213.
85. Schokker RP, Hansson TL, Ansink BJ. Craniomandibular disorders in patients with different types of headache. J Craniomandib Disord 1990;4:47-51.
86. Glaros AG, Urban D, Locke J. Headache and temporomandibular disorders: evidence for diagnostic and behavioural overlap. Cephalalgia 2007;27:542-549.
87. Ciancaglini R, Radaelli G. The relationship between headache and symptoms of temporomandibular disorder in the general population. J Dent 2001;29:93-98.
88. Svensson P. Muscle pain in the head: overlap between temporomandibular disorders and tension-type headaches. Curr Opin Neurol 2007;20:320-325.
89. Jensen R, Olesen J. Initiating mechanisms of experimentally induced tension-type headache. Cephalalgia 1996;16:175-182.

90. Jensen R. Pathophysiological mechanisms of tension-type headache: a review of epidemiological and experimental studies. *Cephalalgia* 1999;19:602-621.
91. Lim PF, Smith S, Bhalang K, Slade GD, Maixner W. Development of temporomandibular disorders is associated with greater bodily pain experience. *Clin J Pain* 2010;26:116-120.
92. Marklund S, Wiesinger B, Wanman A. Reciprocal influence on the incidence of symptoms in trigeminally and spinally innervated areas. *Eur J Pain* 2010;14:366-371.
93. Bergstrom I, List T, Magnusson T. A follow-up study of subjective symptoms of temporomandibular disorders in patients who received acupuncture and/or interocclusal appliance therapy 18-20 years earlier. *Acta Odontol Scand* 2008;66:88-92.
94. Ekberg E, Vallon D, Nilner M. Treatment outcome of headache after occlusal appliance therapy in a randomised controlled trial among patients with temporomandibular disorders of mainly arthrogenous origin. *Swed Dent J* 2002;26:115-124.
95. Ekberg EC, Nilner M. Treatment outcome of short- and long-term appliance therapy in patients with TMD of myogenous origin and tension-type headache. *J Oral Rehabil* 2006;33:713-721.
96. Stewart WF, Wood GC, Manack A, Varon SF, Buse DC, Lipton RB. Employment and work impact of chronic migraine and episodic migraine. *J Occup Environ Med* 2010;52:8-14.
97. Holroyd KA, Stensland M, Lipchik GL, Hill KR, O'Donnell FS, Cordingley G. Psychosocial correlates and impact of chronic tension-type headaches. *Headache* 2000;40:3-16.
98. Rasmussen BK, Jensen R, Olesen J. Impact of headache on sickness absence and utilisation of medical services: a Danish population study. *J Epidemiol Community Health* 1992;46:443-446.
99. Anderson GC, John MT, Ohrbach R, Nixdorf DR, Schiffman EL, Truelove ES, et al. Influence of headache frequency on clinical signs and symptoms of TMD in subjects with temple headache and TMD pain. *Pain* 2010;152:765-771.
100. Kalaykova S, Naeije M, Huddleston Slater JJ, Lobbezoo F. Is condylar position a predictor for functional signs of TMJ hypermobility? *J Oral Rehabil* 2006;33:349-355.
101. Okeson JP. Critical commentary 1: Evaluation of the research diagnostic criteria for temporomandibular disorders for the recognition of an anterior disc displacement with reduction. *J Orofac Pain* 2009;23:312-315.

102. Ahmad M, Hollender L, Anderson Q, Kartha K, Ohrbach R, Truelove EL, et al. Research diagnostic criteria for temporomandibular disorders (RDC/TMD): development of image analysis criteria and examiner reliability for image analysis. *Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod* 2009;107:844-860.
103. American Association of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery. Parameters and Pathways: Clinical Practice Guidelines for Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery. *J Oral Maxillofac Surg* 2001;59:Version 3.0.
104. Hasenbring M. Attentional control of pain and the process of chronification. *Prog Brain Res* 2000;129:525-534.
105. Hasenbring M, Hallner D, Klasen B. Psychological mechanisms in the transition from acute to chronic pain: over- or underrated? *Schmerz* 2001;15:442-447.
106. Nicholas MK, Linton SJ, Watson PJ, Main CJ, "Decade of the Flags" Working Group. Early identification and management of psychological risk factors ("yellow flags") in patients with low back pain: a reappraisal. *Phys Ther* 2011;91:737-753.
107. Galli U, Ettlin DA, Palla S, Ehlert U, Gaab J. Do illness perceptions predict pain-related disability and mood in chronic orofacial pain patients? A 6-month follow-up study. *Eur J Pain* 2010;14:550-558.
108. Wright AR, Gatchel RJ, Wildenstein L, Riggs R, Buschang P, Ellis E 3rd. Biopsychosocial differences between high-risk and low-risk patients with acute TMD-related pain. *J Am Dent Assoc* 2004;135:474-483.
109. Grossi ML, Goldberg MB, Locker D, Tenenbaum HC. Reduced neuropsychologic measures as predictors of treatment outcome in patients with temporomandibular disorders. *J Orofac Pain* 2001;15:329-339.
110. Litt MD, Shafer DM, Kreutzer DL. Brief cognitive-behavioral treatment for TMD pain: long-term outcomes and moderators of treatment. *Pain* 2010;151:110-116.
111. Hallner D, Hasenbring M. Classification of psychosocial risk factors (yellow flags) for the development of chronic low back and leg pain using artificial neural network. *Neurosci Lett* 2004;361:151-154.
112. Turner JA, Dworkin SF. Screening for psychosocial risk factors in patients with chronic orofacial pain: recent advances. *J Am Dent Assoc* 2004;135:1119-25; quiz 1164-5.
113. Rugh JD, Ohrbach R. Occlusal parafunction. In: Mohl ND, Zarb GA, Carlsson GE and Rugh JD (ed). *A Textbook of occlusion*. Chicago, IL: Quintessence, 1988:249-261.

114. Ohrbach R. Disability assessment in temporomandibular disorders and masticatory system rehabilitation. *J Oral Rehabil* 2010;37:452-480.
115. Steenks MH, de Wijer A, Lobbezoo-Scholte AM, Bosman F. Orthopedic Diagnostic Tests for Temporomandibular and Cervical Spine Disorders. In: Friction J and Dubner R (ed). *Advances in Pain Research and Therapy Orofacial Pain and Temporomandibular Disorders*. New York, New York:Raven Press, 1995:325-350.
116. Lobbezoo-Scholte AM, Steenks MH, Faber JA, Bosman F. Diagnostic value of orthopedic tests in patients with temporomandibular disorders. *J Dent Res* 1993;72:1443-1453.
117. Lobbezoo-Scholte AM, de Wijer A, Steenks MH, Bosman F. Interexaminer reliability of six orthopaedic tests in diagnostic subgroups of craniomandibular disorders. *J Oral Rehabil* 1994;21:273-285.
118. Okeson, JP. History and examination for temporomandibular disorders. *Management of Temporomandibular Disorders and Occlusion*. St. Louis: Mosby Year Book, 2008:228-301.
119. Visscher CM, Lobbezoo F, Naeije M. A reliability study of dynamic and static pain tests in temporomandibular disorder patients. *J Orofac Pain* 2007;21:39-45.
120. Howard, J. Clinical Diagnosis of Temporomandibular Joint Derangements. In: Moffett BC (ed). *Diagnosis of Internal Derangements of the Temporomandibular Joint*. Seattle, Washington:Continuing Dental Education, University of Washington, 1984:13-19.
121. Wright, EF. *Manual of Temporomandibular Disorders*. Ames, Iowa:Blackwell Munksgaard, 2005:338
122. Visscher CM, Naeije M, De Laat A, Michelotti A, Nilner M, Craane B, et al. Diagnostic accuracy of temporomandibular disorder pain tests: a multicenter study. *J Orofac Pain* 2009;23:108-114.
123. McNamara JA Jr, Seligman DA, Okeson JP. Occlusion, Orthodontic treatment, and temporomandibular disorders: a review. *J Orofac Pain* 1995;9:73-90.
124. Gonzalez YM, Greene CS, Mohl ND. Technological devices in the diagnosis of temporomandibular disorders. *Oral Maxillofac Surg Clin North Am* 2008;20:211-220.
125. Greene CS, American Association for Dental Research. Diagnosis and treatment of temporomandibular disorders: emergence of a new care guidelines statement. *Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod* 2010;110:137-139.

126. Greene CS. Managing the care of patients with temporomandibular disorders: a new guideline for care. *J Am Dent Assoc* 2010;141:1086-1088.
127. Müller L, van Waes H, Langerweger C, Molinari L, Kellenberger CJ, Saurenmann RK. Age related percentiles of maximal mouth opening capacity at the Public School Dental Services in the City of Zurich, Switzerland. *J Dent Res* (Submitted);.
128. Bair E, Tibshirani R. Semi-supervised methods to predict patient survival from gene expression data. *PLoS Biol* 2004;2:E108.
129. Ohrbach R, Fillingim RB, Mulkey F, Gonzalez Y, Gordon S, Gremillion H, et al. Clinical findings and pain symptoms as potential risk factors for chronic TMD: descriptive data and empirically identified domains from the OPPERA case-control study. *J Pain* 2011;12:T27-45.
130. Dworkin SF. Prospective Evaluation and Risk Assessment, Act One – Conceptual Model, Design, Methods, and Baseline Risk Factor Studies. *J Pain* 2011;12:T1-T107.

Table 1. Diagnostic Criteria for the Most Common Pain-Related Temporomandibular Disorders

Myalgia (ICD-9 729.1)		
Description		Pain of muscle origin that is affected by jaw movement, function, or parafunction, and replication of this pain occurs with provocation testing of the masticatory muscles.
Criteria	HISTORY	1. Pain ¹ in the jaw, temple, in the ear, or in front of ear; AND 2. Pain modified with jaw movement, function or parafunction.
	AND	1. Confirmation ² of pain location in the area of the temporalis or masseter muscle(s); AND
	EXAM	2. Report of familiar pain ³ in the temporalis or masseter with <u>at least</u> 1 of the following provocation tests: a. Palpation of the temporalis or masseter muscle(s); OR b. Maximum unassisted or assisted opening.
Validity		Sensitivity 0.90; Specificity 1.00
Comments		The pain is not better accounted for by another pain diagnosis. Other masticatory muscles may be examined as dictated by clinical circumstances but the sensitivity and specificity for this diagnosis based on these findings has not been established.
Myofascial Pain with Referral (ICD-9 729.1)		
Description		Pain of muscle origin as described for myalgia, with referral of pain beyond the boundary of the masticatory muscle(s) being examined when using the myofascial examination protocol. Myofascial pain with referral is a subtype of myalgia.
Criteria	HISTORY	1. Pain ¹ in the jaw, temple, in the ear, or in front of ear; AND 2. Pain modified with jaw movement, function or parafunction.
	AND	1. Confirmation ² of pain location in the area of the temporalis or masseter muscle(s); AND
	EXAM	2. Report of familiar pain ³ with palpation of the temporalis or masseter muscle(s); AND 3. Report of pain at a site beyond the boundary of the muscle(s) being palpated.
Validity		Sensitivity 0.85; Specificity 0.98
Comments		The pain is not better accounted for by another pain diagnosis. Other masticatory muscles may be examined as dictated by clinical circumstances but the sensitivity and specificity for this diagnosis based on these findings has not been established.

Arthralgia (ICD-9 524.62)		
Description		Pain of joint origin that is affected by jaw movement, function, or parafunction, and replication of this pain occurs with provocation testing of the TMJ.
Criteria	HISTORY	1. Pain ¹ in the jaw, temple, in the ear, or in front of ear; AND 2. Pain modified with jaw movement, function or parafunction.
	AND	1. Confirmation ² of pain location in the area of the TMJ(s); AND
	EXAM	2. Report of familiar pain ³ in the TMJ with <u>at least</u> 1 of the following provocation tests: a. Palpation of the lateral pole or around the lateral pole; OR b. Maximum unassisted or assisted opening, right or left lateral movements, or protrusive movements
Validity		Sensitivity 0.91; Specificity 0.96
Comments		The pain is not better accounted for by another pain diagnosis.
Headache attributed to TMD (ICD-9 339.0)		
Description		Headache in the temple area secondary to pain-related TMD* that is affected by jaw movement, function, or parafunction, and replication of this headache occurs with provocation testing of the masticatory system.
Criteria	HISTORY	1. Headache ¹ of any type in the temple, AND 2. Headache modified with jaw movement, function or parafunction.
	AND	1. Confirmation ² of headache location in the area of the temporalis muscle(s); AND
	EXAM	2. Report of familiar headache ³ in the temple area with <u>at least</u> 1 of the following provocation tests: a. Palpation of the temporalis muscle(s), OR b. Maximum unassisted or assisted opening, right or left lateral movements, or protrusive movements
Validity		Sensitivity 0.89; Specificity 0.87
Comments		The headache is not better accounted for by another headache diagnosis.
Footnote		* A diagnosis of painful TMD (myalgia, myofascial pain with referral, or TMJ arthralgia) is derived using valid diagnostic criteria.

¹ The time frame for assessing pain including headache is in “the last 30 days” since the stated sensitivity and specificity of these criteria were established using this time frame. Although the specific time frame can be dependent on the context in which the pain complaint is being assessed, the validity of this diagnosis based on different time frames has not been established.

² The examiner must identify with the patient all anatomical locations that they have experienced pain in the last 30 days. For a given diagnosis, the location of pain induced by the specified provocation tests must be in an anatomical structure consistent with that diagnosis.

³ “Familiar pain” (or headache) is based on patient report that the pain induced by the specified provocation test(s) has replicated the pain that the patient has experienced in the time frame of interest, which is usually the last 30 days. “Familiar pain” is pain that is similar or like the patient’s pain complaint.

**Table 2. Diagnostic Criteria for the Most Common
Intra-articular Temporomandibular Disorders**

Disc Displacement with Reduction (ICD-9 524.63)		
Description		An intra-capsular biomechanical disorder involving the condyle-disc complex. In the closed mouth position the disc is in an anterior position relative to the condylar head and the disc reduces upon opening of the mouth. Medial and lateral displacement of the disc may also be present. Clicking, popping or snapping noises may occur with disc reduction.
Criteria	HISTORY	In the last 30 days, ¹ any TMJ noise(s) present with jaw movement.
	AND	1. Clicking, popping and/or snapping noise detected during both opening and closing, with palpation during at least 1 of 3 repetitions of jaw opening and closing,
	EXAM	OR 2. Clicking, popping and/or snapping noise detected with palpation during at least 1 of 3 repetitions of opening or closing; AND 3. Clicking, popping and/or snapping noise detected with palpation during at least 1 of 3 repetitions of right or left lateral movements, or protrusive movements.
Validity		Without imaging: sensitivity 0.33; specificity 0.94. Imaging is the reference standard for this diagnosis.
Imaging		When this diagnosis needs to be confirmed, then TMJ MRI criteria ² are positive for <u>both</u> of the following: 1. In the maximum intercuspal position, the posterior band of the disc is located anterior to the 11:30 position <u>and</u> the intermediate zone of the disc is anterior to the condylar head; AND 2. On full opening, the intermediate zone of the disc is located between the condylar head and the articular eminence.
Disc Displacement with Reduction with Intermittent Locking (ICD-9 524.63)		
Description		An intra-capsular biomechanical disorder involving the condyle-disc complex. In the closed mouth position the disc is in an anterior position relative to the condylar head, and the disc intermittently reduces with opening of the mouth. When the disc does not reduce with opening of the mouth, intermittent limited mandibular opening occurs. When limited opening occurs, a maneuver may be needed to unlock the TMJ. Medial and lateral displacement of the disc may also be present. Clicking, popping or snapping noises may occur with disc reduction.
Criteria	HISTORY	1. In the last 30 days, ¹ any TMJ noise(s) present with jaw movement; AND
	AND	2. In the last 30 days, ¹ jaw locks with limited mouth opening, even for a moment, and then unlocks.
	EXAM	Same as specified for Disc Displacement with Reduction. Although not required, when this disorder is present clinically, examination is positive for inability to open to a normal amount, even momentarily, without the clinician or patient performing a specific manipulative maneuver.
Validity		Without imaging: sensitivity 0.46; specificity 0.97. Imaging is the reference standard for this diagnosis.
Imaging		When this diagnosis needs to be confirmed, then the imaging criteria ² are the same as for disc displacement with reduction if intermittent locking is not present at the time of imaging. If locking occurs during imaging, then an imaging-based diagnosis of disc displacement without reduction will be rendered and clinical confirmation of reversion to intermittent locking is needed.

Disc Displacement without Reduction with Limited Opening (ICD-9 524.63)		
Description		An intra-capsular biomechanical disorder involving the condyle-disc complex. In the closed mouth position the disc is in an anterior position relative to the condylar head, and the disc does not reduce with opening of the mouth. Medial and lateral displacement of the disc may also be present. This disorder is associated with persistent limited mandibular opening that does not resolve with the clinician or patient performing a specific manipulative maneuver. This is also referred to as “closed lock”.
Criteria	HISTORY	1. Jaw lock or catch so that the mouth would not open all the way; AND 2. Limitation in jaw opening severe enough to limit jaw opening and interfere with ability to eat.
	AND	Maximum assisted opening (passive stretch) < 40mm including vertical incisal overlap.
	EXAM	
Validity		Without imaging: sensitivity 0.80; specificity 0.97. Imaging is the reference standard for this diagnosis.
Imaging		When this diagnosis needs to be confirmed, then TMJ MRI criteria ² are positive for <u>both</u> of the following: 1. In the maximum intercuspal position, the posterior band of the disc is located anterior to the 11:30 position <u>and</u> the intermediate zone of the disc is anterior to the condylar head, AND 2. On full opening, the intermediate zone of the disc is located anterior to the condylar head. Note: Maximum assisted opening of < 40mm is determined clinically.
Footnote		Presence of TMJ noise (e.g., click with full opening) does not exclude this diagnosis.
Disc Displacement without Reduction without Limited Opening (ICD-9 524.63)		
Description		An intra-capsular biomechanical disorder involving the condyle-disc complex. In the closed mouth position the disc is in an anterior relative the condylar head and the disc does not reduce with opening of the mouth. Medial and lateral displacement of the disc may also be present. This disorder is NOT associated with limited mandibular opening.
Criteria	HISTORY	Same as specified for Disc Displacement without Reduction with Limited Opening.
	AND	Maximum assisted opening (passive stretch) ≥ 40mm including vertical incisal overlap.
	EXAM	
Validity		Without imaging: sensitivity 0.54; specificity 0.79. Imaging is the reference standard for this diagnosis.
Imaging		When this diagnosis needs to be confirmed, then TMJ MRI criteria ² are the same as for disc displacement without reduction with limited opening. Note: Maximum assisted opening of ≥ 40mm is determined clinically.
Footnote		Presence of TMJ noise (e.g., click with full opening) does not exclude this diagnosis.

Degenerative Joint Disease (ICD-9 715.18)		
Description		A degenerative disorder involving the joint characterized by deterioration of articular tissue with concomitant osseous changes in the condyle and/or articular eminence.
Criteria	HISTORY	In the last 30 days, ¹ any TMJ noise(s) present.
	AND	At least one of the following must be present:
	EXAM	1. Crepitus detected with palpation during opening, closing, lateral, or protrusive movements; OR 2. Patient report of crepitus (e.g., crunching, grinding or grating noises) during the exam.
Validity		Without imaging: sensitivity 0.49; specificity 0.86. Imaging is the reference standard for this diagnosis.
Imaging		When this disorder is present, then TMJ CT criteria ² are positive for <u>at least one</u> of the following: Subchondral cyst(s), erosion(s), generalized sclerosis or osteophyte(s). Note: Flattening and/or cortical sclerosis are considered indeterminant findings for DJD and may represent normal variation, aging, remodeling or a precursor to frank DJD.
Subluxation (ICD-9 830.0)		
Description		A hypermobility disorder involving the disc-condyle complex and the articular eminence: In the open mouth position, the disc-condyle complex is positioned anterior to the articular eminence and is unable to return to a normal closed mouth position without a specific manipulative maneuver. The duration of dislocation may be momentary or prolonged. When prolonged the patient may need the assistance of the clinician to reduce the dislocation and normalize jaw movement. This is also referred to as “open lock”.
12	HISTORY	1. In last 30 days, ¹ jaw locking or catching in a wide open mouth position, even for a moment, so could not close from the wide open position, AND
	AND	2. Inability to close the mouth without a specific manipulative maneuver
	EXAM	Although no exam findings are required, when this disorder is present clinically, examination is positive for inability to return to a normal closed mouth position without the clinician or patient performing a specific manipulative maneuver.
Validity		Without imaging and based only on history: sensitivity 0.98; specificity 1.00.
Imaging		When this disorder is present, then imaging criteria are positive for the condyle positioned beyond the height of the articular eminence.

¹ The time frame for assessing these biomechanical intra-articular disorders is in “the last 30 days” since the stated sensitivity and specificity of these criteria was established using this time frame. Although the specific time frame can be dependent on the context in which the pain complaint is being assessed, the validity of this diagnosis based on different time frames has not been established.

² Ahmad M, Hollender L, John M, Anderson Q, Kartha K, Ohrbach R, Truelove, E and Schiffman E. Research Diagnostic Criteria for Temporomandibular Disorders: Development of Image Analysis Criteria and Examiner Reliability for Image Analysis. *Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod* 2009;107:844-860.

Table 3. Taxonomic Classification for Temporomandibular Disorders

I. TEMPOROMANDIBULAR JOINT DISORDERS

1. Joint pain

- A. Arthralgia
- B. Arthritis

2. Joint disorders

- A. Disc-condyle complex disorders
 - 1. Disc displacement with reduction
 - 2. Disc displacement with reduction with intermittent locking
 - 3. Disc displacement without reduction with limited opening
 - 4. Disc displacement without reduction without limited opening
- B. Hypomobility disorders
 - 1. Adhesions / Adherence
 - 2. Ankylosis
 - a. Fibrous
 - b. Osseous
- C. Hypermobility disorders/ dislocation
 - 1. Subluxation
 - 2. Luxation

3. Joint diseases

- A. Degenerative joint disease
 - 1. Osteoarthritis
 - 2. Osteoarthrosis
- B. Condylar resorption/condylolysis
- C. TMD attributed to systemic arthritides
 - 1. Rheumatoid arthritis
 - 2. Juvenile idiopathic arthritis
 - 3. Metabolic arthritis
 - 4. Other
- D. Neoplasm
- E. Chondromatosis

4. Fractures

5. Congenital/developmental disorders

- A. Aplasia
- B. Hypoplasia
- C. Hyperplasia

II. MASTICATORY MUSCLE DISORDERS

1. Muscle pain

A. Myalgia

1. Local myalgia
2. Myofascial pain
3. Myofascial pain with referral

B. Tendonitis

C. Spasm

D. Myositis

2. Contracture

3. Hypertrophy

4. Neoplasm

5. Movement Disorders

A. Dyskinesia

B. Dystonia

6. Masticatory muscle pain attributed to systemic/central pain disorders

A. Fibromyalgia/ widespread pain

B. Centrally mediated regional myalgia

III. Headache

1. Headache attributed to TMD

IV. Associated structures

1. Coronoid hyperplasia

Table 4. From RDC/TMD to DC/TMD: Changes in diagnostic algorithms for pain-related TMD		
	RDC/TMD	DC/TMD
HISTORY (applicable to all pain-related TMD disorders)		
Presence of masticatory system pain in past 30 days	✓	✓
Pain modification with jaw movement, function, or parafunction		✓
EXAMINATION		
<i>Arthralgia</i>		
Confirmation of location of pain in the joint		✓
Pain with joint palpation		
• Lateral pole	✓	✓
• Around lateral pole		✓
• Posterior site	✓	
Familiar pain with palpation		✓
Familiar pain with range of motion		✓
<i>Myalgia ("Myofascial pain" in RDC/TMD)</i>		
Confirmation of location of pain in a masticatory muscle		✓
Pain with muscle palpation		
• Temporalis	✓	✓
• Masseter	✓	✓
• Posterior mandibular region	✓	
• Submandibular region	✓	
• Lateral pterygoid area	✓	
• Temporalis tendon	✓	
Pain with maximum unassisted or assisted opening		✓
Familiar pain with palpation or opening		✓
<i>Myofascial pain with referral (new diagnosis)</i>		
Sustained palpation with identification of referral patterns		✓

Table 5. From RDC/TMD to DC/TMD: Changes in diagnostic algorithms for disc displacements and degenerative joint disease with new history - based diagnosis of subluxation.		
	RDC/TMD	DC/TMD
HISTORY		
"In last 30 days, any noise present" pertains to disc displacement with reduction with and without intermittent locking, and degenerative joint disease.		✓
"In last month, jaw locks with limited mouth opening and then unlocks" pertains to disc displacement with reduction with intermittent locking		✓
"Jaw lock or catch so that it would not open all the way" pertains to disc displacement without reduction with and without limited opening		✓
"When you opened your mouth wide, jaw lock or catch so that it would not close all the way" pertains to subluxation.		✓
EXAMINATION		
<i>Disc Displacement with Reduction</i>		
Click detection	2 of 3	1 of 3
5mm between reciprocal clicks	✓	
Elimination of click in protrusive position	✓	
<i>Disc Displacement with Reduction, with Intermittent Locking</i>		✓
<i>Disc Displacement without Reduction, with Limited Opening</i>		
Unassisted opening of ≤ 35 mm and assisted opening ≤ 4 mm more than unassisted opening	✓	
Assisted opening < 40 mm		✓
Contralateral movements < 7 mm and/or uncorrected deviation to the ipsilateral side on opening	✓	
Absence of noise, or noise not meeting criteria for disc displacement with reduction	✓	
<i>Disc Displacement without Reduction, without Limited Opening</i>		
Unassisted opening > 35 mm and assisted opening > 4 mm more than unassisted opening	✓	
Assisted opening ≥ 40 mm		✓
Contralateral and protrusive movements ≥ 7 mm	✓	
Noise not meeting criteria for disc displacement with reduction	✓	
<i>Degenerative Joint Disease</i>		
Coarse crepitus with palpation	✓	
Crepitus (fine or coarse) with palpation		✓
Crepitus reported by patient with range of motion		✓

Table 6. Recommended Axis II Assessment Protocol				
Domain	Instrument	# items	Screening	Comprehensive
Pain intensity	Graded Chronic Pain	3	✓	✓
Pain locations	Pain drawing	1	✓	✓
Physical function	Graded Chronic Pain	4	✓	✓
Limitation	JFLS-short form	8	✓	
	JFLS-long form	20		✓
Distress	PHQ-4	5	✓	
	PHQ-9*	10		✓
Anxiety	GAD-7	7		✓
Physical symptoms	PHQ-15*	15		✓
Parafunction	Oral Behaviors Checklist	21	✓	✓

* The RDC/TMD depression and non-specific physical symptoms instruments could be substituted for the PHQ-9 and PHQ-15, respectively, if continuity with legacy data is important.

Table 7. Clinical and Research Applications of Selected DC/TMD Axis I and Axis II Tests				
	Axis I: Physical Diagnosis		Axis II: Psychosocial Status	
	Pain Diagnoses	Joint Diagnoses	Distress and Pain Disability	
Application	Clinical or Research		Clinical	Clinical or Research
Screening Test	TMD Pain Screener	DC/TMD for DD, DJD and Dislocation	PHQ-4 GCPS	PHQ-9 GAD-7 PHQ-15 GCPS
Confirmatory Test	DC/TMD for Arthralgia, Myofascial Pain and Headache attributed to TMD	Imaging: MRI for DD and CT for DJD	Consultation with Mental Health Provider	Structured Psychiatric or Behavioral Medicine Interview